No. S274625

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

EVERARDO RODRIGUEZ and JUDITH V. ARELLANO,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

FCA US, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

California Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division Two, Civil No. E073766
Appeal from Riverside County Superior Court
Case No. RIC1807727
Honorable Jackson Lucky, Judge Presiding

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROSNER, BARRY & BABBITT, LLP
Hallen D. Rosner, SBN 109740
hal@rbblawgroup.com
Arlyn L. Escalante, SBN 272645
arlyn@rbblawgroup.com
10085 Carroll Canyon Road, Ste. 100
San Diego, California 92131
(858) 348-1005 / F: (858) 348-1150

KNIGHT LAW GROUP, LLP
Roger R. Kirnos, SBN 283163

ISSUE PRESENTED

Should consumers who purchase used vehicles with still-pending new-car express warranties be given protections like other consumers who purchase new vehicles with new-car express warranties? Specifically: Does the phrase “or other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty” in Civil Code section 1793.22’s definition of a “new motor vehicle” cover sales of used vehicles still covered by the manufacturer’s express new-car warranty, or are such used vehicles instead outside the protections of the Song-Beverly Act?

INTRODUCTION

The Legislature enacted the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act, Civil Code section 1790 et seq. (“Act”), to provide enhanced breach-of-express-warranty remedies against consumer-product manufacturers because common law and Commercial Code remedies had not protected buyers adequately.¹ The Court of Appeal’s opinion (“Opinion”) scuttles that goal. If affirmed, it will eliminate protections that buyers of used cars with transferable balances on manufacturer new-car warranties have had under the Act for almost three decades. The Opinion will relegate those consumers to the exact Commercial Code remedies the Legislature has already deemed to be inadequate.

Indeed, over the years, the Legislature has added comprehensive provisions to the Act specifically to protect buyers of motor vehicles—including the refund-or-replace remedy in section 1793.2, subdivision (d)(2). When manufacturers fail to repair vehicles after a reasonable number of repair attempts during an express-warranty period, they are required to “promptly replace” vehicles or “promptly make restitution to the buyer” for the purchase price. (§ 1793.2, subd. (d)(2).) This obligation applies to “a new motor vehicle, as that term is defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 1793.22” (*ibid.*), which is defined in part as “a dealer-owned vehicle and a ‘demonstrator’ or *other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty...*” (§ 1793.22, subd. (e)(2), italics added).

¹ Statutory references are to the Civil Code unless indicated.

Almost three decades ago, *Jensen v. BMW of North America, Inc* (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 112 (*Jensen*) held that “the words of section 1793.22 are reasonably free from ambiguity and cars sold with a balance remaining on the manufacturer’s new motor vehicle warranty are included within its definition of ‘new motor vehicle.’” (*Id.* at p. 123.) *Jensen* held the Legislature intended “to make car manufacturers live up to their express warranties, whatever the duration of coverage.” (*Id.* at p. 127.)

Petitioners relied on *Jensen* in suing manufacturer FCA USA LLC (“FCA”) after FCA failed to repair the car petitioners had purchased from a used-car dealer. The car was two years old when purchased and had a balance remaining on a transferable FCA new-car warranty. The Court of Appeal, however, rejected *Jensen*’s interpretation. It instead held, for the first time in a California published decision, that section 1793.22’s “new motor vehicle” definition “unambiguously refers to cars that come with a new or full express warranty,” and not to used cars with an unexpired manufacturer new-car warranty. (Opn:12, 15.)

The Opinion is wrong. *Jensen* got it right.

Dealer-owned vehicles and demonstrators *are used vehicles* that, when sold to consumers, can have the same mileage and age as vehicles that are originally purchased by consumers and later re-sold by used-car retailers. And, because a manufacturer new-car warranty starts running when the vehicle is first put into use, dealer-owned vehicles and demonstrators are sold with a *balance* remaining on that warranty—just like any other used car sold with a transferable, unexpired new-car warranty.

The Opinion mistakenly assumes without basis that dealer-owned vehicles and demonstrators always come with brand-new, *full* manufacturer warranties and are always “basically” or “essentially” new when sold. (Opn: 3, 11-12.) This mistake negates the Opinion’s entire textual analysis.

The Legislature’s decision to expand the “new motor vehicle” definition to include dealer-owned vehicles, demonstrators, and “other” vehicles “sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty” plainly signals an intent to include at least some used vehicles—namely, those with a balance remaining on a manufacturer’s new-car warranty, exactly as *Jensen* held. Any other interpretation renders a still-pending express warranty effectively unenforceable if the manufacturer breaches it by failing to repair a vehicle within a reasonable number of repair attempts.

Even looking beyond the Act’s plain language, extrinsic interpretative aids equally compel *Jensen*’s interpretation:

The Act is “‘manifestly a remedial measure, intended for the protection of the consumer; it should be given a construction calculated to bring its benefits into action.’” (*Kirzhner v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 966, 972 (*Kirzhner*)). *Jensen*’s interpretation is the *only* interpretation that fulfills the Act’s remedial purposes of (a) providing enhanced remedies to protect buyers of warranted vehicles against manufacturers failing to honor express warranties; and (b) inducing manufacturers to promptly buy back lemon vehicles and brand them as lemons to protect the general public.

The Opinion’s interpretation eliminates the Act’s breach-of-express-warranty protections for almost all used cars even though such vehicles are still covered by a manufacturer’s new-car warranty at the time of sale, and even though such an interpretation would incentivize manufacturers to breach their obligation to promptly buy back lemons in the hopes that the vehicles will end up in the hands of used-car retailers and then sold to someone without any recourse under the Act.

The Opinion’s relegation of used-car buyers to suing manufacturers under the Commercial Code for breach of express warranty is a hollow remedy. Not only does the Code lack the Act’s buy-back and branding obligations for lemon vehicles, it lacks the Act’s “primary financial benefit”—the ability for vehicle buyers to recover attorney’s fees so they can pursue lawsuits that “might not otherwise have been economically feasible.” (*Murillo v. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc.* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 985, 994 (*Murillo*)). Consumers who can only afford used cars typically can’t afford to sue.

Other interpretive aids confirm that *Jensen* was right:

- The Opinion creates a host of arbitrary, unsupported distinctions between car buyers, and, if affirmed, will cause shockwaves in the used-car market that public policy militates against.
- *Jensen*’s interpretation comports with the view of the Department of Consumer Affairs, the agency

entrusted with enforcing the very statute in which the “new motor vehicle” definition appears.

The Opinion addresses *none* of the relevant interpretive aids, not even the statute’s remedial purpose. Instead, after erroneously claiming that the Act’s language unambiguously supports its interpretation, the Opinion leapfrogs over all other extrinsic aids to conclude that the legislative history supports a conclusion that the Act doesn’t reach used vehicles with still-remaining new-car warranties. (Opn:15.) But even the legislative history does nothing of the sort. As *Jensen* recognizes, its interpretation that the Act encompasses used vehicles comports with the Legislature’s systematic attempt in the Act “to address warranty problems unique to motor vehicles, including transferability and mobility.” (35 Cal.App.4th at p. 124.) Indeed, post-*Jensen* legislative history strongly shows that the Legislature agrees with *Jensen*. Although the legislative history for the amendment that added demonstrators, dealer-owned vehicles, and all “other” vehicles “sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty” doesn’t explain why the Legislature included those used vehicles, “no inference of legislative intent may be drawn from *the lack* of legislative history on this particular statutory provision.” (*Id.* at p. 125, italics added.)

The Opinion must be reversed. This Court should hold, consistent with the way it’s been for nearly thirty years, that the phrase “or other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty” in section 1793.22’s “new motor vehicle” definition

intends to protect buyers of used vehicles still covered by the manufacturer's new-car warranty.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statutory Background.

The Act's provision for breach of express warranty² at section 1793.2, subdivision (d)(2), specifies that if a vehicle's manufacturer or its representative "is unable to service or repair a new motor vehicle, *as that term is defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 1793.22*, to conform to the applicable *express* warranties after a reasonable number of attempts, the manufacturer shall either promptly replace the new motor vehicle in accordance with subparagraph (A) or promptly make restitution to the buyer in accordance with subparagraph (B)." (§ 1793.2, subd. (d)(2), italics added).

We refer to this obligation as the refund-or-replace requirement. It is "[o]ne of the [Act's] most significant protections" for car buyers. (*Martinez v. Kia Motors America, Inc.* (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 187, 191 (*Martinez*).

The Act was later amended to provide a definition for a "new motor vehicle." Paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of section 1793.22, which governs the refund-or-replace requirement,

² Petitioners anticipate FCA may attempt to cite inapposite authorities dealing with the *implied* warranty, which arises by operation of law. (§ 1792.) Express warranty elements and damages are wholly distinct from those for the implied warranty. (See § 1793.2(d).)

provides that a “[n]ew motor vehicle’ *includes* the chassis, chassis cab, and that portion of a motor home devoted to its propulsion, but does not include any portion designed, used, or maintained primarily for human habitation, *a dealer-owned vehicle and a ‘demonstrator’ or other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty* but does not include a motorcycle or a motor vehicle which is not registered under the Vehicle Code because it is to be operated or used exclusively off the highways.” (§ 1793.22, subd. (e)(2), italics added.)

The statute defines a “demonstrator” as “a vehicle assigned by a dealer for the purpose of demonstrating qualities and characteristics common to vehicles of the same or similar model and type.” (§ 1793.22, subd. (e)(2).)³

³ The statute also provides that a “new motor vehicle” generally means “a new motor vehicle that is bought or used primarily for personal, family, or household purposes” but also includes “a new motor vehicle with a gross vehicle weight under 10,000 pounds bought or used primarily for business purposes by a person, including a partnership, limited liability company, corporation, association, or any other legal entity, to which not more than five motor vehicles are registered in this state.” (§ 1793.22, subd. (e)(2).)

B. Factual Background.

1. Petitioners purchase a two-year-old vehicle from a used-car dealer that remains covered by a manufacturer's new-car warranty.

Everardo Rodriguez and Judith Arellano (petitioners) purchased a two-year-old Dodge Truck from a used-car dealer. (Opn:2-3.) At purchase, the truck remained subject to a five-year/100,000-mile powertrain warranty that was voluntarily issued by the vehicle's manufacturer, FCA. (Opn:3.) FCA is the parent company that oversees the Chrysler and Dodge brands. (Opn:2, fn. 2)

Because the truck had 55,000 miles on it at purchase, FCA's three-year/36,000-mile bumper-to-bumper warranty had expired. (Opn:3.) But FCA's powertrain warranty remained in effect, and it covered the truck's engine, transmission, and drive system—the components involved in petitioners' breach-of-warranty claim. (*Ibid.*)

2. While the manufacturer warranty remains in effect, the vehicle experiences covered defects that the manufacturer cannot fix.

While FCA's powertrain warranty was still in effect, the truck began experiencing repeated engine issues. (Opn:3.) Petitioners took the vehicle six times to an authorized FCA dealer for repair. (Opn:3.)

The truck had a defect in an engine component that regulates electrical power to all systems. (Opn:4.)

FCA attempted repairs under its express warranty at no charge. (Appellant’s Appendix for E073766, pp. 174-175, 180-192.) But FCA could not repair the defects. (Opn:3-4.)

C. This Lawsuit.

- 1. After the manufacturer refuses to comply with the Song-Beverly Act’s refund-or-replace requirement, petitioners sue the manufacturer under the Act.**

After FCA had been unable to repair the engine yet refused to repurchase the vehicle, petitioners sued FCA under the Act for violating the refund-or-replace requirement. (Opn:4.)

- 2. The trial court enters summary judgment for the manufacturer, concluding the vehicle was not a “new motor vehicle” as defined by Civil Code section 1793.22.**

Presenting the same argument that *Jensen* rejected decades ago, FCA moved for summary judgment on the ground that “the manufacturer’s refund-or-replace provision applies to new vehicles only, and it was undisputed [petitioners] purchased the truck used.” (Opn:2, 4.)

The trial court granted the motion. (Opn:4.) It ruled that “a previously owned vehicle sold with a balance remaining on one

of the manufacturer's express warranties does not qualify as a 'new motor vehicle' under the Act." (*Ibid.*)

D. The Court Of Appeal Affirms.

Parting company with *Jensen, supra*, 35 Cal.App.4th 112, the Court of Appeal's opinion affirmed the trial court, concluding that the phrase "other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer's new car warranty" does not cover sales of previously-owned vehicles with an existing, unexpired manufacturer's new-car warranty but, instead, only covers "sales of essentially new vehicles where the applicable warranty was *issued with* the sale." (Opn:3, original italics.) The Opinion determines that "*in isolation* the phrase 'other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer's new car warranty' could arguably refer to any car sold with a manufacturer's warranty still in force" but instead "agree[s] with FCA that context requires a more narrow interpretation." (Opn:10, original italics.)

The Opinion emphasizes that "the phrase is preceded by 'a dealer-owned vehicle and demonstrator,'" which, according to the Opinion, "comprise a specific and narrow class of vehicles" that are used but "have never been previously sold to a consumer and ... come with full express warranties." (Opn:10-11.) In direct contrast to *Jensen's* reading of the same phrase, the Opinion concludes that the text "indicates the Legislature structured the provision as a list of two vehicles (dealer-owned vehicles 'and' demonstrators) followed by an adjectival clause qualifying or describing those vehicles" intended as "a catchall provision to

cover a narrow class vehicle—the previously driven, but basically new (i.e., not previously sold) car.” (Opn:11-12.)⁴

Based on this “textual” analysis, the Opinion concludes: “[T]he phrase ‘other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty’ *unambiguously* refers to cars that come with a

⁴ As discussed below, the Opinion fatally misreads *Jensen*. The Opinion says the *Jensen* dealer “issued a *full new car warranty* along with the lease” because it “gave her BMW’s 36,000-mile warranty ‘on top’ of the miles already on the odometer.” (Opn:16-17, original italics.) The Opinion says *Jensen* “concluded the car qualified as a new vehicle because BMW’s representative issued a new car warranty with the lease.” (Opn:17.) But that’s not what *Jensen* says, nor is it even what BMW argued. *Jensen* merely referenced in the “factual background” that a salesman “told” plaintiff the car was a demonstrator and that he would get the 36,000-mile warranty on top of the prior miles—representations that apparently were false. (See 35 Cal.App.4th at p. 119.) But the Opinion treats the salesman’s statement as true. Neither the *Jensen* court nor BMW ever assumed that a full, new warranty actually existed. Rather, BMW argued that the Legislature could not have intended for the new motor vehicle definition to include every vehicle sold with “any *remainder* of the manufacturer’s new car warranty,” and the *Jensen* court rejected that argument by holding that “cars sold *with a balance* remaining on the manufacturer’s new motor vehicle warranty are included within [section 1793.22’s] definition of ‘new motor vehicle.’” (*Id.* at pp. 122-123, italics added.)

The Opinion erroneously assumes the *Jensen* plaintiff had a new full warranty, and then compounds that mistake by erroneously assuming this means sales of demonstrators and dealer-owned vehicles purportedly come with full new warranties. Both assumptions are false. As we will show (§ I.B, *post*), BMW’s argument in *Jensen* and the Court of Appeal’s holding in *Jensen* track the reality that demonstrators and dealer-owned vehicles actually come with only a *balance* remaining on the manufacturer’s new-car warranty.

new or full express warranty.” (Opn:15, italics added.) The Opinion states, “even if this meaning weren’t readily apparent from the statute, the Act’s legislative history” supports the same conclusion. (*Ibid.*) The Opinion’s legislative-history analysis, however, only rests on the absence of the term “used vehicles,” rather than on any express legislative commentary on the issue. (*Ibid.*) The Opinion ignores the legislative history supporting *Jensen*’s interpretation, as well as clear legislative pronouncements that the Act be read broadly to give effect to its remedial purpose.

The Opinion concludes that although its interpretation denies “the Act’s refund-or replace remedy” to used-car buyers like petitioners, used-car buyers—as “the beneficiary of a transferrable express warranty”—can still “sue a manufacturer for breach of an express warranty to repair defects under the California Uniform Commercial Code.” (Opn:19.)

The Opinion ignores that the Legislature enacted the Act’s enhanced remedies because Commercial Code remedies had not sufficiently protected consumers.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court determines de novo the meaning of the Act’s statutes. (*Kirzhner, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 972.)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. The Plain Meaning Of Section 1793.22’s “New Motor Vehicle” Definition Includes Used Vehicles Sold With A Balance Remaining On A Manufacturer’s New-Car Warranty.

In determining legislative intent, this Court “begin[s] by examining the statute’s words ‘because they generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent.’” (*Lopez v. Sony Electronics, Inc.* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 627, 634 (*Lopez*)). The inquiry ends if the language is unambiguous. (*Ibid.*) Here, section 1793.22’s “new motor vehicle” definition, read in proper context, unambiguously includes used vehicles sold with a balance remaining on a manufacturer’s new-car warranty.

A. The definition unambiguously includes any vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new-car warranty, which includes used cars sold with a balance remaining on a new-car warranty.

The plain language of the “new motor vehicle” definition includes vehicles that are *not* strictly brand-new—specifically “a dealer-owned vehicle and a ‘demonstrator’ *or* other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty.” (§ 1793.22, subd. (e)(2), italics added.)

Under settled statutory construction rules, “[u]se of the word “or” in a statute indicates an intention to use it disjunctively so as to designate alternative or separate categories.” (*People ex rel. Green v. Grewal* (2015) 61 Cal.4th

544, 561, quoting *White v. County of Sacramento* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 676, 680 (*White*); accord, *Smith v. Selma Community Hospital* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1, 30 [“The plain and ordinary meaning of the word ‘or’ is well established. When used in a statute, the word ‘or’ indicates an intention to designate separate, disjunctive categories”].) “The Legislature’s use of the disjunctive ‘or’ ... indicates an intent to designate *alternative* ways of satisfying the statutory requirements.” (*People v. Loewn* (1997) 17 Cal.4th 1, 9, italics added.)

Thus, “[t]he use of the word ‘or’ in [section 1793.22, subdivision (e)(2)] indicates ‘demonstrator’ and ‘other motor vehicle’ are intended as alternative or separate categories of ‘new motor vehicle’ if they are ‘sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty.’” (*Jensen, supra*, 35 Cal.App.4th at p. 123, citing *White, supra*, 31 Cal.3d at p. 680.) Indeed, the plain language unambiguously refers to three separate categories: (1) dealer-owned vehicles; (2) demonstrators; and (3) any other vehicles “sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty.” The Opinion’s conclusion that “the provision’s grammatical structure signals the list contains two types of vehicles, not three” (Opn:11), ignores the disjunctive meaning of “or.”

Applying the plain language, a vehicle sold with a transferable balance on a manufacturer’s new-car warranty is a vehicle “sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty.” The buyer has the right to enforce the manufacturer’s new-car warranty for the remainder of the warranty period—no different from the buyer of a brand-new car. *Jensen* therefore got it right

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