S274625

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

EVERARDO RODRIGUEZ et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

FCA US, LLC, Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two Case No. ${\rm E073766}$

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP LISA PERROCHET (BAR NO. 132858) JOHN A. TAYLOR, JR. (BAR NO. 129333) *SHANE H. MCKENZIE (BAR NO. 228978) 3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681 (818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592 lperrochet@horvitzlevy.com jtaylor@horvitzlevy.com

CLARK HILL LLP

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

In other words, section 1793.22 clarifies that mileage on the odometer from "regular use" by a new motor vehicle dealer before the first retail purchase does not take the vehicle outside Song-Beverly's definition of "new." It certainly does not go farther to sweep in cars purchased from *used* car dealers for resale.

Finally, virtually all vehicles (new or used) on any dealer lot are owned by the dealer before they are resold to a consumer, so the phrase "dealer-owned" must be defined more narrowly, in light of the definition's earlier limiting phrase, "new motor

vehicle." (Civ. Code, § 1793.22, subd. (e)(2); see Veh. Code, § 426 ["new motor vehicle dealer" is a franchised dealer].) A broad, isolated reading of "dealer-owned vehicle" that includes *any* vehicle owned by *any* dealer renders much of the definition redundant, *including* its enumeration of specified vehicles, like demonstrators.

3. Plaintiffs' argument concerning demonstrators used extensively for several years is factually unsupported and irrelevant. Plaintiffs raise the hypothetical prospect of consumers buying from new car dealers a "demonstrator used for several years" and executive vehicles "used for many years," from which they infer the Legislature must have meant to broadly include in the new motor vehicle definition *used* cars bought from any dealer who acquires title. (OBOM 56.)

The ipse dixit notion that demonstrators may be used "for many years" before being sold for the first time to a consumer is contrary to reality. New motor vehicle dealers have tremendous financial incentives to sell demonstrators and service and executive vehicles quickly. Dealers pay periodic interest and depreciation payments to the financing bank until the vehicles are sold to a consumer (see Billings, Floor Planning, *supra*, §§ 1:7, 1:12 [¶ 6.1], 1:52, 1:55) and pay use taxes for executive vehicles and service loaners (see CDTFA, Motor Vehicle Dealers, *supra*, pp. 26, 29–30; CDTFA Guide, *supra*, § 215.0000 et seq.; see also Dept. Motor Vehicles (DMV), City and County Use Tax Rate Changes (Apr. 21, 2021) <https://tinyurl.com/bdz7pd64> [as of Feb. 1, 2023]). Thus, these vehicles are typically sold after a

few months of use. (See Billings, Floor Planning, *supra*, §§ 1:52, 1:55; CDTFA Guide, *supra*, § 215.0401; Cooper, *What is a Demo Car and is Buying One a Good Idea?* (Sept. 16, 2022) <https://tinyurl.com/2by2r7ww> [as of Feb. 1, 2023].)⁶

Plaintiffs' sole support for their repeated claim that demonstrators are "driven for years before being sold" (OBOM 29; see OBOM 30, 56, 57) is an article stating a demonstrator "used as a salesperson's personal vehicle . . . can have *hundreds to several thousand* miles" on it (Dempsey, *What is the real deal with buying a demo car*? (Mar. 27, 2009) Consumer Reports <<u>https://tinyurl.com/3hcasf3t></u> [as of Feb. 1, 2023], emphasis added). But because cars are typically driven about 12,000 miles *per year*,⁷ the cited article actually confirms demonstrators are typically used for less than one year before sale.

In any event, even if a demonstrator had a significant number of miles, the Legislature properly could and did distinguish such a vehicle from one sold to a consumer for private use and then resold to another consumer. If such vehicles were entitled to equal treatment, the Legislature need not have

⁶ An average new motor vehicle dealership will sell between 500 and 1,000 vehicles a year, with fairly quick turnover. (See Billings, Floor Planning, *supra*, § 1:1.) New vehicles are now selling in less than a month. (See J.D. Power, *Up*, *Up* and *Up* in *December* (Dec. 21, 2022) ["The average number of days a new vehicle is in a dealer's possession before being sold is on pace to be 23 days"] ">https://tinyurl.com/46dufdfn> [as of Feb. 1, 2023].)

⁷ In California, "the average driver only covers 12,500 miles annually, less than the nationwide average." (Covington, *Average miles driven per year in the U.S. (2022)* (Sept. 21, 2022) The Zebra https://tinyurl.com/ymjeujrc [as of Feb. 1, 2023].)

mentioned demonstrators at all and would simply have said "new motor vehicles" are all vehicles covered under a manufacturer's warranty.

4. Plaintiffs' argument concerning lessees who exercise a lease option is factually unsupported and irrelevant. Plaintiffs' vehicle was not leased and reclaimed by a franchised dealer before being sold. Plaintiffs nonetheless draw on the "dealer-owned" clause to posit that the Legislature intended "a leased vehicle returned after multiple years" should be considered a dealer-owned new motor vehicle to which the Act's new car remedies must apply, even though in common parlance such a vehicle is obviously "used." (OBOM 56–57.)

In fact, such a vehicle would have been previously owned by a leasing company and the consumer lessee—*not* the dealer. (See Veh. Code, §§ 286, subd. (i) ["dealer" does not include a "lessor"], 4453.5, subd. (a) [the lessor and lessee are the owners]; Billings, Floor Planning, *supra*, § 1:53 ["The dealer's leasing company purchases lease vehicles from the dealership [and the] vehicle is titled to the company. At the end of the lease the dealer will likely buy the car from the leasing company."].) The Court of Appeal's reading of the statute properly treats any such vehicles—all those previously owned and registered by a consumer but then sold back to a dealer—as falling outside the definition of "new motor vehicle."

Plaintiffs nonetheless argue that the definition of "new motor vehicle" must be stretched to protect original lessee owners who purchase their own vehicle at the end of the lease. (See

OBOM 57.) But a lessee who is the recipient of a new car warranty that came with the lease of a new car is entitled to seek repurchase/replacement remedies based on unsuccessful repairs. (See § 1793.2, subd. (d)(2)(D) [a "buyer" of a new motor vehicle includes a lessee of a new motor vehicle]; *Crayton v. FCA US LLC* (2021) 62 Cal.App.5th 641, 206–207 (*Crayton*) [addressing original lessee's rights after vehicle is sold].) The precise contours of the remedies in a lease buyout situation need not be decided here, as the point is irrelevant on these facts. One who *buys a used car from a third-party used car dealer* is not in any sense the buyer of a "new motor vehicle," regardless whether an original lessee who exercises the purchase option at lease-end retains new-car-buyer status.

- II. Other statutory provisions reinforce that Song-Beverly's new motor vehicle definition does not extend to used vehicles.
 - A. The Act contains remedies specific to the sale of used goods, which should be governed by those provisions rather than provisions specific to "new motor vehicles."

Song-Beverly is clear when it applies to used products. (*Rodriguez, supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 221–222.) For example, Song-Beverly references "new or used" products (e.g., §§ 1794.4, subd. (f), 1796.5) and lays out detailed provisions in the limited situations where "used" products (like assistive devices) are covered by remedies otherwise provided specifically for new products (e.g., §§ 1793.02, subd. (g), 1795.5).

The absence of similar language in sections 1793.2 or 1793.22 signifies that those provisions do *not* cover used cars with transferred warranties. (See *County of San Diego v. San Diego NORML* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 798, 825 (*County of San Diego*) ["Where statutes involving similar issues contain language demonstrating the Legislature knows how to express its intent, ' "the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject is significant to show that a different legislative intent existed with reference to the different statutes" ' "].)

Plaintiffs argue Song-Beverly's provisions for used goods are irrelevant, specifically claiming that section 1795.5 "doesn't address a manufacturer's liability for the manufacturer's own express warranty" or "disclaim all manufacturer liability for used goods" under the Act. (OBOM 37–38.) That is plainly wrong. Section 1795.5 states it is "not the original manufacturer" who has any duty to maintain repair facilities for used products (§ 1795.5, subd. (a)) *or* to reimburse dealers for the cost of repairing, replacing, or repurchasing defective used products (§ 1795.5, subd. (b)), including those still covered by the original warranty. (See *Kiluk, supra*, 43 Cal.App.5th at pp. 339 [Song-Beverly "provides similar remedies in the context of the sale of used goods, except that the manufacturer is generally off the hook"].)

Other provisions in Song-Beverly confirm the manufacturer repurchase-or-replacement remedy is limited to the vehicle's *original* buyer.

First, when selling a repurchased lemon, manufacturers must disclose "the nature of the nonconformity experienced by the original buyer or lessee" to subsequent purchasers. (§ 1793.22, subd. (f)(1), emphasis added.) That disclosure requirement confirms manufacturers are expected to repurchase vehicles only from the "original" purchaser.

Second, the damages formula for the "use offset" in the event of a repurchase is calculated by dividing the "number of *miles traveled by the new motor vehicle* prior to the time the buyer first delivered the vehicle to the manufacturer" by 120,000, multiplied by the price of the car. (§ 1793.2, subd. (d)(2)(C), emphasis added; see 3MJN 701 ["120,000 miles is the average life expectancy of an automobile"].) It makes sense to determine the buyer's use based on *all* miles traveled by the new motor vehicle prior to the first repair attempt *only if the buyer was the original owner*. Significantly, both the use-offset and disclosure provisions were added in 1987, *at the same time* the "new motor vehicle" definition was clarified to include demonstrators and other vehicles sold with a new car warranty. (3MJN 543

[§ 1793.2, subd. (d)(2)(C)], 713 [same]; see 3MJN 571 [§ 1793.2, subd. (e)(5)], 714–715 [same].)

Plaintiffs note that, in 1989, "the Legislature expressly 'declare[d] that the *expansion* of state warranty laws covering new *and used cars* has given important and valuable protection *to consumers*.'" (OBOM 38, quoting former § 1795.8 [current § 1793.23, subd. (a)(1)].) The point nicely shows that, when the Legislature means to refer to "new and used cars," it knows how to distinguish such obligations from those applicable only to "new motor vehicles."

In addition, the language plaintiffs cite refers to Song-Beverly's disclosure provision for repurchased "used lemons." (See 13MJN 1207–1208, 1284; see also 3MJN 571 [in 1987, Assembly Bill (AB) 2057 added the disclosure provision in former section 1793.2, subdivision (e)(5), now section 1793.22, subdivision (f)(1)].) The Legislative Counsel explained that, in 1989, "existing law" required the repurchase of defective "new motor vehicle[s]," which could then be resold as used "motor vehicles," *if* the manufacturer disclosed the vehicle's history. (14MJN 1389.) Song-Beverly draws the same distinction today. (See §§ 1793.22, subd. (f)(1), 1793.23, subd. (c) [vehicle repurchased from the original owner becomes "a motor vehicle," not a "*new* motor vehicle," without regard to whether it is covered by the balance of the original warranty].)

Other statutes that apply to used car purchasers with transferred warranties confirm the limited scope of Song-Beverly's remedies for "new motor vehicle" buyers. For example,

the Legislature expressly included subsequent purchasers in 1975 when it required manufacturers to provide consumers with express emissions warranties. (See Health & Saf. Code, § 43204, added by Stats. 1975, ch. 957, § 12 p. 2196 [vehicle manufacturers "shall warrant to the ultimate purchaser and each subsequent purchaser"].) This demonstrates how the Legislature could have treated buyers of used vehicles still covered by original warranties, if its intent had been to extend the repurchase-orreplacement remedy to them.

Similarly, the Motor Vehicle Warranty Adjustment Program (MVWAP) defines "consumers" for purposes of that program to include "any person to whom the motor vehicle is transferred during the duration of an express warranty." (§ 1795.90, subd. (a).) That is the kind of language one would expect to see in section 1793.22 if the Legislature intended the result plaintiffs advocate.

Plaintiffs observe that the MVWAP is not technically part of Song-Beverly and was enacted 23 years after the Act. (OBOM 42, citing §§ 1795.90–1795.93.) But the MVWAP was inserted (at Chapter 1.5) to immediately follow the Act in the Civil Code—6 years after the 1987 amendment—because both statutes relate to manufacturer warranty obligations to vehicle buyers. The reference to subsequent purchasers in the MVWAP, but not in Song-Beverly, supports FCA: it reveals "a different legislative intent" regarding which buyers are covered under each legislative enactment. (*County of San Diego, supra*, 165 Cal.App.4th at p. 825.) Finally, plaintiffs attempt to conflate used car and new car owners by noting that manufacturers have an ongoing duty, under section 1793.2, subdivision (a), to carry out the terms of transferred warranties. (OBOM 72–73, citing *Kiluk, supra*, 43 Cal.App.5th at p. 340, fn. 4.) However, that ongoing *contractual* obligation does not expand the enhanced statutory remedies that apply only to breaches of warranties held by buyers of "new motor vehicles." (See *Gavaldon v. DaimlerChrysler Corp.* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1246, 1261–1262 (*Gavaldon*) [repurchase-orreplacement remedy not available for violation of Act's ongoing duties relating to used car service contracts].)

B. Plaintiffs' statutory interpretation conflicts with Song-Beverly's implied warranty provisions and unduly cuts off the rights of and remedies to buyers of demonstrators and other new vehicles.

"Statutory language is not considered in isolation. Rather, we 'instead interpret the statute as a whole, so as to make sense of the entire statutory scheme.'" (*Bonnell v. Medical Board* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1255, 1261.) Related provisions of the same statutory scheme " 'should be read together and construed in a manner that gives effect to each, yet does not lead to disharmony with the others.'" (*Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency v. Verjil* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 205, 218.)

Consistent with these principles, Song-Beverly's definition of "new motor vehicle" for purposes of statutory remedies tied to express warranties should not be interpreted in a manner that conflicts with Song-Beverly's *implied* warranty provisions.

All new goods sold at retail are accompanied by the manufacturer's implied warranty of merchantability (§ 1792), which "in no event" shall have a duration of more than one year following the sale (§ 1791.1, subd. (c)). If used cars with transferred warranties were "new motor vehicles," as plaintiffs claim, a new one-year implied warranty would attach to the vehicle upon each retail sale within the warranty period, which would conflict with section 1791.1's one-year maximum. (*Kiluk*, *supra*, 43 Cal.App.5th at p. 340, fn. 4.)

Plaintiffs baselessly argue that implied warranty provisions apply only to "consumer goods," not "new motor vehicles." (OBOM 69–70.) But as this Court has explained, a " 'new motor vehicle' is just one type of 'consumer goods' " under Song-Beverly. (*Cummins, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 478, 490 (*Cummins*).) Consequently, provisions of Song-Beverly relating to "consumer goods"—including the implied warranty provisions—apply also to "new motor vehicles."

To the extent that provisions specific to new motor vehicles diverge from those related to consumer goods more generally, the specific terms would govern over the general. (See, e.g., OBOM 35.) But that maxim of statutory construction applies only where two provisions cannot be harmonized. (*Royalty Carpet Mills, Inc. v. City of Irvine* (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 1110, 1118.) Because "new motor vehicle" and "consumer good" both refer to the first retail sale, there is no conflict. Song-Beverly's implied warranties expire no later than one year after the initial purchase, as contemplated under the Act (§ 1791.1, subd. (c)), rather than arising over and over with each sale of a used car.

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